# Joliet Junior College Demonstration & Research Guide 2003

# Find out how:

Transgenic Rootworm Corn Protected Roots,





Soybean Aphid Reduced Yield,



Corn Herbicides Performed,

and numerous other cropping practices affected yields.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgments • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •
2003 Contributor List	• •2
Agricultural and Horticultural Sciences Department Faculty and Staff	• •3
Introduction • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •4
Rootworm Larval Insecticides & Transgenic Bt-Rootworm Corn Evaluation	•6
Rootworm Control Methods in Rotated Corn	• •11
Corn Herbicide Evaluations	• •15
Corn Planting Date and Tillage • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •20
Nitrogen Application Time and Rate	• •23
Variable Rate N Application	• •26
Split vs. Single N Applications • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •29
Soil Fertility - Corn	• •31
YieldGuard+™ • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •33
	• •35
Kernal Guard <sup>™</sup> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •37
Corn Hybrids	• •39
Soybean Row Spacing and Seeding Rates • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •41
Soybean Herbicide Evaluations	• •44
Soybean Planting Date	• 48
Soybean Fungicidal Seed Treatment	• •51
Soil Compaction	• •53
Soil Fertility - Soybean • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• 55
Soybean Aphid • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• •57
Soybean Varieties	• •59
References	• •61



# Acknowledgments

Numerous people have contributed in many ways to the J.F. Richards Land Laboratory, Demonstration & Research Farm during 2003. Resources donated range from the time donated by drivers for our field day, to equipment, pesticides, cash, and seed, all are listed in the tables below and on the following page. Take some time to look over these folks and their supporting employers and give them a friendly thanks for their support from Joliet Junior College and myself.

A few folks I would like to mention here are; Alan Venters and the following JJC Ag students; Jesse Faber, Brock Flanigan, Bob Mcquillen, and Rob Thomas, for helping put in the corn hybrid demonstration. Rob Thomas and Scott Stine of Monsanto both volunteered to help dig, wash and rate roots in our two corn rootworm studies. Scott Lagar of Hintzsche's spent several hours with a weigh wagon helping to calibrate our combine yield monitor in both corn and soybean. Our field day speakers were: Russel Higgins, Timothy Smith, Kevin Steffey, and David Voegtlin, all associated with the University of Illinois.

Name and company of people who donated equipement to the Joliet Junior College, J.F. Richards Land Laboratory in 2003.

Last	First	Company	Equipment
Dumney	Bill		Field Cultivator
Schafer	John	Grainco FS	Ammonia Applicator
Smerz	Dick		Hayrack
Stine	Scott	Monsanto	Pressure Washer

Name and company of people who donated pesticides and acres of pesticide product to the J.F. Richards Land Laboratory in 2003.

Last	First	Company	ProductAmount
Cowherd	Tommy	Elburn Coop	Degree Xtra.80Ac
Eager	John	Syngenta	Force/30Ac
Roelfs	Duane	Monsanto	Roundup Weather Max/135Ac
Ruhi	Kreg	Bayer Crop Scinece	Aztec and Epic/30Ac

Name and company of people who contributed funds for the pork chop dinner during our 2003 field day.

Last	First	Company
Buhr	Rod	Sieben
Coffman	Lyle	Great Lakes
Fugate	Bill	Burrus
Lagar	Scott	Hintzsche
Ruhl	Kreg	Bayer Crop Science
Skonetski	Bill	Dairyland Seed
Venters	Allan	Hughes

# **2003 Contributors List**

Applied learning in production agriculture at Joliet Junior College continues through the generosity of these contributors. We greatly appreciate their support for research and demonstrations at Joliet Junior College.

Link	h mark	Conterny
Bruninal	Llen	Golden Hervest
Buhr	1866	Saban
Cuttren	Carolyn	
Cuttren	Deve	Johnst Junior College
Octonen 👘	Lyte	GreatLalose
Ocredit	l edd	LG Seets
Orshard	l conny	Bburn Coop
Orenn	John	
Dunney	Eta B	
Leger	Jehn	Syn gan ta
Engler	l en i	Ag Yan tura
h teas	Doug	JdietJunich Odlege
Fugata	Ve Deare	Burna
Gek	18an	Elector
GIM		Bburn Coop
Heryse	Westellery	Garat
Higgina	i du senal	University of Binois
Husenen	Min day	Grow-Lech-Seeds
Johnson	Las	Ocrimaticus
Papnar	Heet	Ocrimatives
Mote na gas	Milai	Dew
Lenever	Lerry	Caarse t
Leger	Seett	Hintosche
Leudenen	Cneg	FS
Ne sis it	Dolug	Adlar
Cast	Cheig	Litener
Clace	l never	FS
15wi	Lyte	University of Binois
Perne	P. Brits and	VARUAN
i Atraina	Duana	Heritagia PS
lðuhl	Knag	Beyer Orop Steinice
Schener	Jehn	Gnen Cc. FS
Schmedier	Liven	LG Seats
Skenatala		Derryland Saad
Server .	incary 	Christersky childrens
Servery	Maran	Circlearshy chilling a
	3001	Nic na anto
	i oti taan t	
	r. nikowi mark	CICKS
ini kana taanta	Alten	Hughes
n chaigeann Thurston	Line and	Constanting Children 1
1996230 1865-0	and a state	
Ultra and a state		Industry have a Collision
in the second second	E. 2017∦ ₽ 18.44	Exclusion of Contraction
T T SI I R	F. 11	

### Agriculture and Horticultural Sciences Department Faculty and Staff

The agriculture and horticulture faculty and staff at Joliet Junior College are always willing to answer questions and discuss the information contained within this document. As an institution of higher learning we value the discussion of the contents of our demonstration and research guide, and desire input from the public concerning our farm. Below is a complete list of all faculty and staff in the Agriculture and Horticulture Sciences Department. For more information or additional copies of the JJC Demonstration and Research Guide 2003, contact: Jeff Wessel, Joliet Junior College, 1215 Houbolt Road, Joliet, Illinois 60431. Phone: (815)280-6602 e-mail: jwessel@jjc.edu. To contact faculty and other staff members call (815)280-2320, or fax at (815)280-6650.

Brad Angus - Agronomy / Business / Livestock Judging Jim Ethridge - Department Chair / Greenhouse **Doug Foss - Mechanics** Caryn Genens - Horticulture Lab Manager **Dale Hummel - Animal Science** Bill Johnson - Agricultural Economics / Marketing Scott Keller - Veterinary Technology Mark Kuster - Landscape Design Karen Magno - Veterinary Technology secretary Fredric Miller - Nursery Management Tammy Miller - Soils / Fertilizers Roxanne Olson - Veterinary Technology Lisa Perkins - Turf Management Lynda Scerine - Department Secretary Walter Stein - Veterinary Technology Donna Theimer - Floral Design / Interior Plantscaping Jeff Wessel - Farm Manager / Agronomy Instructor

### Introduction

The Joliet Junior College Demonstration and Research Farm was put into operation in 1983 with the expressed purpose of being an educational resource for agricultural students and their instructors. There are three major objectives of the Demonstration and Research Farm, they are: 1) Provide an instructional setting for crops and soils analysis, this allows students to put into practice skills they have learned in the classroom. 2) Demonstrate crop response to various agronomic practices, this provides an environment for students to observe first hand the impact of various agronomic practices on crop growth and development. 3) Provide unbiased, sound agronomic information to crop producers.

The Demonstration and Research Farm consists of 107 cropped acres with 60 acres of corn and 47 of soybean in 2003. Eighteen agronomic studies and two demonstrations were implemented in 2003, they included the evaluation of corn and soybean herbicides and insecticides, tillage systems, row spacing and seeding rates and planting dates in both corn and soybean. Nitrogen (N) fertilizer rates and application timing in corn were among other replicated studies. Demonstrations (unreplicated) of corn and soybean varieties were also included in our work for 2003.

Our Demonstration and Research Farm is situated in Joliet, Illinois (North Eastern Illinois) a region dominated by soils with low phosphorous (P) supplying power and high cation exchange capacity. Soil fertility levels at the Demonstration and Research Farm are within acceptable ranges for crop production. P soil levels range from 50 to 140 with a median of 69lbs available P per acre, and exchangeable K<sup>+</sup> ranges from 277 to 502 with a median of 360 lbs per acre. Soil pH ranges from 5.6 to 7.4 with an average of 6.7.

Zero tillage is the primary tillage system used, and as such Fall or Spring preplant "burndown" herbicides were applied over the majority of the farm. Areas not receiving burndown herbicides included tilled areas and a few treatments in the corn and soybean herbicide studies. Fall pre-plant burndown included; CanopyXL@2.5 ounces +Express@0.15ounces+2,4-D@1pint+crop oil concentrate@1quart per acre broadcast on 1/3 of the area soybean was planted into. Spring applied pre-plant burndown consisted of Roundup Weather Max (WM)@21ounces+2,4-D@1pint per acre+Ammonium Sulfate@17lbs per 100 gallons of water. For the balance of the document where RoundupWM was applied, Ammonium Sulfate @ 17lbs per 100 gallons of water was always included. In addition to the burndown, weed control in corn was accomplished by pre-emerge applications of Epic+Atrazine or DegreeXtra+Atrazine followed by a post-emerge application of Clarity+2,4-D. All soybean was Roundup Ready so postemerge applications of RoundupWM were applied at V2 or V4.

Corn was planted in 30 inch rows at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre and planting dates for most corn ranged from April14th through April 30th. After a fairly wet first two weeks of May (page5, figure1), corn planting was finished up on May 16th and 17th. Soybean was planted in 15 inch rows at a rate of 175,000 seeds per acre. Soybean planting began on May 19th and was completed on May 23rd. Corn was harvested at two periods in the Fall, September 23rd through the 30th, and again on October 27th and 28th. Soybean was harvested on October 30th and 31st. Both crops were harvested with a John Deere 9500 combine equipped with an Ag Leader PF3000 yield monitor to measure grain yields. Before harvesting any studies or demonstrations in either crop, the yield monitor was calibrated with five or six calibration loads harvested at varying speeds to develop a yield curve from the flow sensor of the yield monitor. When corn was harvested for the second period (late October) a weigh wagon was again used to check the accuracy of the yield monitor and appropriate changes made.

The growing season began with a somewhat dry April (page 5, figure 1), all of the precipitation that fell in the fourth week ocurred on April 30th. The first half of May was excessively wet, although the second half of May and June had well below normal rainfall. Corn yield saving precipitation began the first week of July and continued at approximately twice the normal rate throughout most of the month. August brought below normal precipitation with 2.28 inches compared to an average of 3.87, which probably depressed soybean yield. The Fall months were fairly dry and harvest was completed primarily with soil in good shape for wheel traffic.

The average corn yield for the farm was 170 and soybean 50 bushels per acre. The corn and soybean varietal demonstrations averaged 189 and 51 bushels per acre respectively. The corn produced a record high yield by 29 bushels per acre and soybean was the second highest recorded at Joliet Junior College.

Jeffrey R Wessel, Farm Manager/Agronomy Instructor



Figure 1.

# Rootworm Larval Insecticides and Transgenic Bt-Rootworm Corn Evaluation

### Justification and Objective

Corn rootworm (CRW) is the most damaging insect pest of monocropped corn in the Midwest (Levine and Oloumi-Sadeghi, 1996), and as such has the potential to inflict heavy economic losses (Gray et al., 1993). Recently the development of a variant Western Corn Rootworm (WCR) exhibiting a behavioral shift to oviposition in soybean fields has been identified in Western Indiana and East Central Illinois (Spencer et al., 1997). The spread of this variant WCR in Illinois over the last decade has become fairly extensive (page 6, figure 3), currently WCR adults have been found in soybean fields in 59 Illinois counties with the greatest densities occurring in the east-central portion of the state (Gray and Steffey, 2002). Figure 2 depicts the dramatic increase in rotated corn acres treated with rootworm larval insecticides in the problem area (East-Central portion of Illinois), and underscores the economics associated with this insect pest as treatment costs are approximately \$16 per acre (Scott Lager, personal communication). Our objective was to evaluate the efficacy of corn rootworm larval insecticides and transgenic Bt-rootworm corn in an effort to demonstrate root injury and it's effect on yield.



Figure 2. Change in corn rootworm larval insecticide use over five years (1993 to 1998) in the problem area (East Central) of Illinois. Source: http://www. staff.uiuc.edu/~s-isard/Cornrootworm/Insecticide.htm

Figure 3. Western corn rootworm (WCR) adults in Illinois soybean fields. Source: National Soybean Research Laboratory. Factsheet #2.



### Rootworm Larval Insecticides and Transgenic Bt-Rootworm Corn Evaluation

### Methods

Four planter-box corn rootworm larval insecticides, a transgenic <u>Bacillus thuring-</u> iensis for corn rootworm (Bt-RW), and a control with no root protection were evaluated for their effect on root injury and grain yield. Each treatment was replicated three times and planted on the 26th of April with the Dekalb hybrid DK537 and DKC53-29 for the Bt-RW (transgenic) treatment. The previous crop was late planted corn (trap crop) which is predisposed to attract corn rootworm adults, and can increase the number of corn rootworm eggs laid and the potential number of corn rootworm larvae the following growing season. Full width tillage, which included Fall chisel-plowing and Spring discing was performed on the entire experimental area. Corn was planted at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre and planter-box insecticides were applied "T" band, banded behind the disc openers and in front of the closing wheels, with heavy chains drug directly behind the closing wheels for light soil incorporation of insecticides. Interrow cultivation was performed at V5 for additional weed control and the crop was harvested in late September.

Treatments: 6 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 26 April Hybrid: Dekalb DK537, and it's Bt-RW isoline (DKC53-29). Previous Crop: Late planted corn. Tillage: Mulch Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: Degree Xtra@ 3.0qts+Atrazine@1quart per acre applied pre-emerge.

Insecticides: Many

### **Results and Discussion**

Severe (2.4, 0-3 scale) root pruning from corn rootworm larvae occurred in the untreated control (page 8, table 1). Figures 6 and 7 on page 10 show corn grown without root protection adjacent to Bt-rootworm (Bt-RW) and Force treated corn. In both instances untreated corn was considerably shorter and heavily lodged. In addition to the severe root injury the control produced significantly (LSD 0.10) less corn grain than that of any insecticide or transgenic Bt-RW (page 8 table 1). The Lorsban and Counter did not provide any root protection, although their grain yields were significantly higher than the control, with the Counter greater than the Lorsban. The Aztec and Force provided acceptable levels of root protection with significantly less root injury than Lorsban or Counter, however, the Bt-RW resulted in a four fold reduction in root injury compared to Aztec or Force. Although the Bt-RW had superior root protection when compared to any other treatment, grain yields were similar to those of the Aztec and Force. Page 9, figure 5 depicts the relationship between root injury and grain yield, note the high level of root injury (> half of roots) necessary for yield reductions. The environment with which this relationship was developed was one of plentiful July rainfall (~187% of normal) and may not be the same in drier environments.

# Corn Rootworm Larval Insecticide and Transgenic (Bt-Rootworm) Corn Evaluation

Figure 4. 0 to 3 node-injury Iowa State root rating scale (Oleson and Tollefson, 2000).

#### Value Damage Description

- 0.00 No feeding damage (lowest rating that can be given)
- One node (circle of roots), or the equivalent of an entire node,eaten back to within approximately two inches of the stalk (soil
- 2.00 Interval and the 7th node)2.00 Two complete nodes eaten
- **3.00** Three or more nodes eaten (highest rating that can be given)



Figure 5. Example of a corn root with two nodes of roots eaten back to within at least 2 inches of the stalk. The root rating on the 0 to 3 scale is 2.

Table 1. Influence of corn rootworm larval insecticides and a transgenic (Bt-rootworm) on the root ratings and grain yield of mono-cropped corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. The previous crop of corn was late planted (trap crop) to enhance the attraction of corn rootworm adults for ovipositioning

Carn Roatvarn In ceataide/Tran cgenia	Active ingredient	Application Rate	Root Rating	Grain Yield
		o 2/1000 ft ro 🖓	0 10 21	Bu chel claure
Un treated			2.4	84
Londoan 160	Chilorp yr 16 G	8	2.4	B 1
Counter CR	Terbuilo s	8	2.2	1 12
Azteo 2.1G	Cyliath ant The spherethic sta	8.7	1.2	166
Force SG	Teñu <b>h</b> rin	4	1.2	168
Bt-RW, Carn	in sector del l'indem i clan		0.2	148
L B D(D. 10)			0.6	14

### Corn Rootworm Larval Insecticide and Transgenic (Bt-Rootworm) Corn Evaluation

Table 2. Effect of corn rootworm insecticide and a transgenic Bt-rootworm with Gaucho (imadicloprid) on the harvest population of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Com Rootworm	Harvest
Insecticide/Transgenic	Population
	Plants per Acre
Untreated	30,400
Lorsban 15G	30,500
Counter CR	30,100
Aztec 2.1G	30,700
Force 3G	31,100
RW. Corn	29,400
LSD(0.10)	N/S

Figure 5. Influence of root ratings on corn grain yield at Joliet Junior College in 2003.



## Corn Rootworm Larval Insecticide and Transgenic (Bt-Rootworm) Evaluation



Figure 6. Left, transgenic Bt-RW., right, untreated.



Figure 7. Left, untreated, right, Force treated.

#### **Justification and Objective**

Variant Western Corn Rootworm (WCR) has spread throughout most of the Northern half of Illinois (Page 12, Figure 8), a long way from it's more humble begining near Piper City, Illinois, in 1987 (Levine et al., 2002). The variant went largely unnoticed by Illinois corn growers until it's explosion in 1995 where heavy root injury was observed in nine East-Central Illinois counties, and 15 North-Western Indiana counties. Entomologists have documented root injury to rotated corn in most of Northern Illinois counties during 2002 and 2003 (Schroeder and Ratcliffe, 2003). Our objective was to evaluate the effectiveness of two rootworm control methods, a corn rootworm insecticide and transgenic Bt-rootworm corn, in rotated corn.

#### **Methods**

One planter-box corn rootworm larval insecticide and a transgenic <u>Bacillus thuringiensis</u> for corn rootworm (Bt-RW.), and a control with no root protection were evaluated for their effect on root injury and grain yield. Each treatment was replicated four times and planted on April 28th with the Dekalb hybrid DK537 and DKC53-29 for the Bt-RW (transgenic) treatment. The previous crop was soybean, and full width tillage, which included Fall chisel-plowing and Spring discing, was performed on the entire experimental area. Corn was planted at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre and the planter-box insecticide was applied "T" band, banded behind the disc openers and in front of the closing wheels, with heavy chains drug directly behind the closing wheels for light soil incorporation. Interrow cultivation was performed at V5 for additional weed control and the crop was harvested in late September.

Treatments: 3 Replications: 4 Planting Date: 28 April Hybrid: Dekalb DK537, and it's Bt-RW isoline (DKC53-29). Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Mulch Soil Series: Symerton silt loam Herbicides: Degree Xtra@ 3.0qts+Atrazine@1quart per acre applied pre-emerge. CRW Insecticides: Force and Transgenic (Bt-RW).



Figure 8. Western Corn Rootworm (WCR) adults captured in soybean fields throughout Illinois in 2002. Source: 2002 WCR distribution map. http:// www.staff.uiuc. edu/~s-isard/Beetles/WCR\_map02. htm.

### **Results and Discussion**

Despit the severe corn root pruning in the untreated control plots (2.4, 0-3 node-injury scale), both control methods provided good root protection (page 13, table 3). The corn rootworm insecticide Force3G, and trangenic Bt-rootworm (Bt-RW) significantly (LSD 0.17) reduced root injury. Similarly, both control methods significantly increased grain yield compared to the untreated control. Although the Bt-RW plants tended to have less root injury relative to those treated with Force3G, yields between the two control methods were similar. This finding is the same as that of the rootworm insecticides/transgenic rootworm evaluation on page8 table1. In both studies Bt-RW protected roots better than Force3G, although yields were the same. Page 14 figure 9 shows the two control methods side by side at the R2 growth stage. The transgenic, which was also treated with Gaucho, and Force3G treated corn did not increase harvest populations compared to the untreated control (page 13, table 4).

Corn Rootworm			
Control Method	Active Ingredient	Root Rating	Grain Yield
		0 to 3‡	Bushels/Acre
Untreated		2.4	175
Force 3G†	Tefluthrin	0.6	191
Bt-RW. Corn	inse atici dai Protei n Tosin	0.3	194
L SD(0.17)		0.7	13
† Force 3G was applied a	t4 ounce a per 1000 feet of row		
‡ Roots were rated using	the Ole ion and Tolle from 0 to	3 nodekinjuny sosle	

Table 3. Influence of rootworm larval control methods on the root ratings and grain yield of rotated corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Table 4. Influence of Corn Rootworm Larval control methods on the harvest population of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Com Rootworm	Harvest
Control Method	Population
	Plants per Acre
Untreated	30,333
Force 3G	32,000
Bt-RW. Com	30,600
LSD(0.10)	N/S

Figure 9. Transgenic Bt-rootworm (left three rows) and Force treated (right three rows) corn at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Despit heavy root injury in the untreated control (2.4, 0-3 node-injury scale), plants with either root protection method did not lodge and produced high yields.



#### **Justification and Objective**

Large numbers of herbicidal compounds are available for weed control in corn. The Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service (2000) lists 21 herbicidal compounds for corn. Fourteen of the 21 herbicides listed are used on less than 10% of Illinois corn acres. Seedling shoot and root inhibitors (chemical family Amide) are used extensively in Illinois, as 79% of corn acres receive an application of either s-metolachlor, acetochlor, or dimethenamid. Additionally, a mobile photosynthesis inhibitor (atrazine) is used on 81% of Illinois corn acres. While many compounds are available for weed control in corn, the overwhelming majority of Illinois corn acres receive similar herbicides.

Our objectives were two fold. First, provide a demonstration of the weed efficacy of commonly used corn herbicides in the Midwest to students at Joliet Junior College. Second, demonstrate the combination of the effects of weed efficacy and potential herbicide injury on corn grain yield.

#### **Methods**

Eight corn herbicide treatemnts and a no-herbicide control were implemented to determine their effect on weed efficacy and grain yield. Each treatment was replicated three times and planted on April 30th with the Great Lakes hybrid Quad 5. The previous crop was soybean and corn was planted at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre with the corn rootworm insecticide Aztec. No tillage was performed with the exception of the no-herbicide treatment wich consisted of shallow tillage performed Spring preplant, followed by two post-emerge interrow cultivations. Herbicides were broadcast with flat fan spray nozzles on a Hardy sprayer applying 20 gallons per acre of spray solution and 20 pounds per square inch nozzle tip pressure. The crop was harvested in late September and weed efficacy ratings were taken two weeks before harvest.

Treatments: 9 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 30 April Hybrid: Great Lakes, Quad 5 Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero-Till Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: Many Insecticides: Aztec 2.1G @ 6.7ounces/1000 feet of row.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Seven of the eight herbicide treatments significantly (LSD 0.10) increased grain yields compared to the No-Herbicide control, and all eight herbicide treatments achieved > 70% control (page 16, table 5). Despite the much improved efficacy of the late-post (V7) applied Marksman+Accent+Atrazine compared to the No-Herbicide treatment, grain vields were similar. Severe early season weed interference (competition+allelopathy) during the critical period (first 4 weeks after crop emergence) resulted in large yield losses from the late-post applied Marksman+Accent+Atrazine which did not have a burndown herbicide applied (page 17, figure 10). Surprisingly, this late post application performed amazingly well given the very large size of broadleaf weeds at application time (page 18, figure 11). However, leaf area and crop growth rate were greatly reduced by application time, and continued to lag behind other treatments through the remainder of vegetative and reproductive growth. Reduced crop growth rates and accumulation of photoassimilate during reproductive growth often results in decreased grain yields. The remaining seven herbicide treatments all produced statistically similar grain yields, however the Degree Xtra+Atrazine treatment yielded 25 bushels per acre less than the same two herbicides with the addition of interrow cultivation. The most efficacious treatment was Degree Xtra+Atrazine followed by a post applied treatment of Clarity+2,4-D. Degree applied without atrazine and followed with a post application of Clarity and 2,4-D provided much improved weed control compared to Degree Xtra+Atrazine applied as a single pre-emerge treatment. Both the Epic+Atrazine and Lumax+Atrazine treatments provided very good weed control and produced similar yields. The post applied (V4) Basis Gold+Clarity also provided good weed control and yields. Pre-emerge and V4 post-emerge applied treatments produced similar vields and good weed control, however. Degree Xtra+Atrazine without a post-emerge weed control tactic and the late post applied treatment were not as efficacious as treatments including both pre-emerge and post-emerge herbicides.

Table 5. Effect of various herbicide treatments on weed efficacy and grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Efficacy ratings were measured at R6. A burndown application of RoundupWM+2,4-D was applied pre-plant in the Spring of the year to the entire experimental area, with the exception of the no-herbicide and late-post applied treatments. Active ingrediants are listed in the same order in table6 as they appear here.

Herbioi de Tradie Namie(Appl.Time)	Application Rate	Weed Efficacy	Orain Yield
	pin to(o 🏚 / aore	96 Can tra I	buchel Gaore
No Herbloide - Innterrow Cultivation†		0	182
Deg ree(Pre), Clarity+2, 4-D(Poist)	4.2,0.6+0.6	BO	128
Degree Xtra+Atrasine(Pre)	8+2	70	188
Degree Xtra+Atrasine(Pre), interro 🛛 Cultivation 👘	8+2	BO	18 1
Deg ree: Xtra+ Atra ain e(Pre), Clarity+2, 4-D( Post)	8+2, 0.6+0.6	100	122
Epio+Abra ane( Pre)	(12)+4	82	126
Lum a #+A fra aine( Pre)	8+2.6	88	124
Back Gold+ Clarity (Polst)	(14)+ 0.26	33	182
Markoman + Accent+ Abrasine (Late-Polici)†	2.6+(0.88)+2.2	70	12 1
L B D (0.10)			82
fNe burnde yn hartoeda application.			

Figure 10. Late post (V7) applied Marksman+Accent+Atrazine treatment before application. No burndown herbicide(s) was applied. Note the heavy infestation of Winter-annuals during the critical weed-free period.



Table 6. Herbicide active ingredient, application rate, and site of action for the eight corn herbicide treatments evaluated at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

,Aotive ingrediant	Application Rate	Bite of Action†
	it a set state is store	
Reated for, Distantizet 24-D	2.01256-0221	B/R, GR+GR
Acato chi cinž. Aca canat. Aciacana	<u>288</u> 4 +4	8/R%-P82+ P82
Acato chi cinž. Vine can et Altrecan e	<u>28</u> 4 +4	8/RS_P82+ P82
National Cr&Net an et Marcan et Diram (5 et 2,4-0	28/ + 4, (0.28/40.29)	8/R& P82+ P82, O R+ O R
i severiu telediriu nana catt Atrazona	007 5501 369 2	H PPD2.8/R+ P82
a All aitcliaich is ná. Na asan aibhlia aithr is na F. Manas na	2012011320201+1.25	H PPC& B/ R& P82+ P82
Nice sulturen & Vescene& 6 naviture nº Diesen ize	CON280 T28 CON29 CON29 (	AL 82.AL 82.P82+O.R
Urben ibeli Anno net Nic toe hurbit Anno ne	10.48 6.09240.09477	OR& P82+A L8+ P82
$\uparrow$ Si 3-Sh column not inhibitor. Gi 3-Growth negatiator. 175	Hindoxystani tvo inhibitor. Hind	AHT 12 en syn ei inhúsésir.
(iii) When the state devices a state of the state of t		

Figure 11. Late post applied Marksman+Accent+Atrazine (left side) 7 days after treatment. Right half was treated with a burndown and a pre-emerge herbicide.





Figure 12. Late post (V7) applied Marksman+Accent+Atrazine 14 days after treatment.

### **Corn Planting Date and Tillage**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Optimum corn planting dates are well documented in Illinois, planting within the two week window between April 20th and May 4th usually produces optimum corn grain yields in most of Illinois (Nafziger, 2002). Tillage generally increases corn yields, although interactions with previous crop and soil water holding capacity are not unusual (Hoeft et al., 2000). Corn zero-tilled after soybean and in droughty soils can produces yields similar to tilled soils, however, monocropped corn and corn grown in soils with relatively good water holding capacity often produce higher yields with tillage. The influence planting date has on the response of corn to tillage is not well known. Observations made by researchers at Purdue from long-term tillage comparisons have been that a response to tillage is more likely when planting is done in late April compared to late May (Vyn et al., 2002). In Minnesota Randall and Vetsch (2002) found no interaction between planting date and tillage. Our objective was to determine the effect of planting date on the response of corn grain yield to tillage.

#### **Methods**

Two planting dates and tillage systems (four treatments) were replicated three times to determine if planting date influences the tillage system producing the highest corn yields. Tillage systems were zero and mulch, mulch tillage consisted of Fall chisel-plowing followed by two Spring shallow tillage operations. Planting dates were April 2nd and May 8th. The corn hybrid Burrus 628BtRR was seeded at 32,000 seeds per acre and the soil insecticide Aztec was "T" banded to protect roots from corn root-worm larvae. Weed control was achieved by pre-plant tillage for tilled plots and burn-down herbicides in zero-till plots. Epic+Atrazine was applied pre-emerge followed by RoundupWM late-post in both tillage systems. The nitrogen source was urea ammoni-um nitrate (UAN), 40 lbs N per acre applied 2X2 during planting and 80 lbs N per acre soil injected at V5. Corn was harvested October 28th.

Treatments: 4 (2 tillage systems and 2 planting dates). Replications: 3 Planting Date: 2-April, 8-May. Hybrid: Burrus 628BtRR Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero and Mulch Soil Series: Symerton silt loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied preplant (burndown). Epic @ 12 ounces and atrazine @ 2 quarts per acre applied pre-emerge. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied late-post (V7). Insecticides:

Aztec2.1G @ 6.7 ounces per 1000 feet of row.

# **Corn Planting Date and Tillage**

#### **Results and Discussion**

No significant (LSD 0.10) interaction occurred between planting date and tillage. Early planted corn (2-April) tended to produce higher yields than planting on 8-May, irrespective of tillage (page 21, table 6). Zero till corn averaged 12 bushels per acre more than corn grown with mulch tillage. This was surprising given that tillage very commonly produces similar or higher yields compared to zero-till (Hoeft et al., 2000) (West et al., 1996) (Hoeft et al., 2002) (SOILS Project, 2003). Although corn yields tended to be very high at the JJC Demonstration and Research Farm in 2003, due primarily to twice the normal rainfall in July, August was relatively dry and zero-tillage may have contributed to soil moisture savings that increased yields. Harvest populations were significantly lower with Mulch compared to zero tillage (page 21, table 7). It is likely that an average reduction of 27,750 to 25,050 plants per acre could account for the yield reduction, as optimal populations are normally near 30,000 plants per acre (Nafziger, 1996). It is unclear why the mulch-till corn had a lower harvest population than the zero-till corn. One possibility is that in an attempt to plant on specific dates, soil conditions at both planting dates were less than ideal and seeding efficiency (harvest population/32,000\*100) was low for both tillage systems (87% zero, 78% mulch). The mulch tillage however, tended to form a harder crust at the soil surface and could be the reason for the lower population.

-	Tillage	
Planting	Zero	Mulch
Date	Grain Yield	
	bushels per acre	
2-Apr	184	171
8-May	164 153	
LSD (0.10)	22	

Table 6. Effect of planting date and illage on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

	Tillage		
Planting	Zero	Mulch	
Date	Harvest P	opulation	
	plants per acre		
2-Apr	27,900	24,500	
8-May	27,600	25,600	
LSD (0.10)	377		

Table 7. Effect of planting date and tillage on the harvest population of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

# **Corn Planting Date and Tillage**





### **Nitrogen Application Time and Rate**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Numerous fertilizer nitrogen (N) application times (Fall, Winter, early & late Spring, and Sidedress) are used for fertilizing corn in the Mid-West. Agronomically, agronomists have known for some time that Fall applied N is less effective than Spring or Sidedress N applications (Welch, 1971). Sidedress N is generally more effective than Spring applied, however, the difference between Sidedress and Spring is less than Fall and Spring. During the past decade there has been increasing concern over the efficiency by which N fertilizer is used. The largest zone of oxygen depleted waters in the U.S., Northern Gulf of Mexico, is often the focul point of concerns over N fertilzer use efficiency. This hypoxic area is thought by some to be partially related to or caused by an increase in nitrogen loading in the Gulf due to N fertilizer loss from Mid-Western cropland (Rabalias, 1998). The application of all fertilizer N to a corn crop can be applied sidedress without suffering yield losses (Fox et al., 1986). Scharf et al., (2002) found that sidedress N could be delayed as late as V11 without any yield losses, despite obvious signs of N defficiency. Our objective was to determine the effect of N application time on corn N requirements.

#### **Methods**

Two N application times (VE and V7) and five N rates (40 to 200lbs N per acre in 40lb increments) and an unfertilized control were used to determine the effect of N application time on corn yield response to N fertilizer. The eleven treatments were replicated three times and arranged in a randomized complete block design. Corn was planted on April 26th and seeded at 32,000 plants per acre. The corn rootworm insecticide Force3G was applied in a "T" band directly over the row, and weed control was achieved by a pre-plant burndown, and a pre-emerge application of Epic+Atrazine. Nitrogen fertilizer was urea ammonium nitrate (32% UAN) injected into the soil about 3 inches deep every 60 inches. Corn was harvested in late September.

Treatments: 11 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 26 April Hybrid: Pioneer 34M95 Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Symerton silt loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces+2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. Epic @ 12 ounces+Atrazine @ 2quarts per acre applied pre-emerge.

Insecticides: Force3G @ 4 ounces per 1000 feet of row.

### **Nitrogen Application Time and Rate**

#### **Results and Discussion**

Nitrogen (N) fertilizer applications significantly (LSD 0.10) increased corn yields for all N rates and application times except for the 40 pound rate when compared to the unfertilized control (page 24, table 8). Economic optimum N rate (N<sub>ac</sub>) for VE applied N is 120 lbs N per acre while the 80 pound rate was sufficient to maximize profits for V7 applied N. Assumptions for  $\rm N_{_{eo}}$  are \$2.40 per bushel corn and \$0.225 per lb N fertilizer, a ratio of 10.7:1 (lbs N/bushel of corn) or approximately 4 bushels of corn required to purchase 40 lbs of N. Although not significantly different, N applied at VE tended to produce higher yields which is probably the reason for the higher fertilizer N requirement. Alternatively, N applied sidedress is often more efficiently used by corn (greater plant recovery) indicating that less fertilizer N may be required to maximize profits (Randall et al., 2003). When averaged over N rates N application time did not significantly effect corn yield (page 24, table 9). Pounds of N required per bushel of corn adding the 40 pound soybean credit to the fertilizer N for the two application times is 0.92 and 0.73 for N applied at VE and V7 respectively. In Illinois 1.2lbs N per bushel of historical corn grain yield is the recommended rate of N fertilization (Hoeft and Peck, 2002), although it has been found to be less (Below, 1995).

Table 8. Influence of nitrogen rate and application time on the grain yield of rotated corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

	N Appl. Time		
	VE V7		
N Rate	Grain Yield		
lbs N / acre	bushels / acre		
0	129		
40	145	144	
80	162 165†		
120	173† 164		
160	174 167		
200	179	167	
LSD (0.10)	20		
†Economic optimum N rate.			

Table 9. Influence of nitrogen rate and application time on the grain yield of rotated corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

N Appl. Time	Grain Yield	
	bushels / acre	
No - N	129	
VE	166	
V7	162	
LSD (0.10)	11	

### **Nitrogen Application Time and Rate**

Figure 15. V15 corn grown with (left 4 rows) and without (right 4 rows) fertilizer N in the N timing by N rate study at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Note the obvious lack of physical and visible N deficiency symptoms in the unfertilized corn. Despite the healthy appearance of the unfertilized plants, they produced 45 bushels per acre less than fertilized plants.



### Variable Rate N Application

#### **Justification and Objective**

The advent of the common use of global positioning systems has created a means for producers and commercial applicators of crop production and protection inputs to apply these inputs varied spatially with accuracy unparalleled in the past. Naturally this has generated much excitement among agronomists, as folks involved in the production and protection of crops are continually seeking to improve the efficiency with which inputs are used. In many cases those in the fertilizer industry have not delayed in equipping themselves with the technology to apply fertilizers variably based on any number of soil or crop characteristics. Results from variably applied N fertilizer have been mixed. In Southern Illinois on a Cisne silt loam N was varied using historical corn grain yields, when compared to a constant N application method profitability was not improved (Varsa et al., 2003). However when N was variably applied using modeled corn yields profitability was improved compared to a whole-field application technique (Paz et al., 1999). Using soil  $NO_{3^{-}}$  - N levels to apply fertilizer N variably has also been used in an attempt to improve profitability, however, corn yields and optimum N rate were similar to N applied at constant rates (Eghball et al., 2003). Our objective was to determine the effect of variably applied N, compared to N applied at a constant rate, on corn yield.

#### **Methods**

Forty pounds N per acre as urea-ammonium-nitrate (UAN) was applied two inches to the side and two inches below the seed furrow (2X2) to the entire experimental area during planting. The two sidedress treatments, a constant N rate (CNR) and a variable N rate (VNR), consisted of UAN applied in a surface band every 60 inches at V9 (June 23rd). Additionally, a control treatment without sidedress N was used to determine the response of corn to sidedress applied N. The CNR consisted of 80 lbs N per acre applied at a constant rate, while the VNR consisted of N applied variably as determined by soil NO3<sup>-</sup> - N levels. N rates were varied by utilizing the lowa State University N recommendation system which employs soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> - N concentrations (Blackmer et al., 1997). Soil was sampled for  $NO_3^{-1}$  - N at V7 by taking one inch diameter cores one foot deep, a sample consisted of 16 cores. The experimental area which was 860 feet in length was split into thirds and each third was sampled once for soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> - N. UAN was then applied variably according to soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> - N levels in each third of the VNR plots. The VNR treatment averaged 125 lbs N per acre. Each treatment was replicated three times and the Sieben hybrid 6720YGCB was planted on April 28th at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre. The previous crop was soybean and the experimental area was Fall chisel-plowed and disced once the following Spring.

# Variable Rate N Application

### **Methods**

Experimental Unit Dimensions: 10' X 860'. Treatments: 3 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 28 April Hybrid: Sieben 6720YGCB Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Mulch Soil Series: Symerton Sil Herbicides: Degree Xtra@3quarts+Atrazine@1quart per acre applied pre-emerge.

Insecticides: Force3G @ 4 ounces per 1000 feet of row.

Figure 16. Economically optimum N rates for a 30 acre field in Windom, Minesota in 1997 and 1999. Optimum N rates can vary considerably in a relatively small area, although they may not vary similarly over years. Photo from Gary Malzer, University of Minesota (Doerge, T.A., 2002).



# Variable Rate N Application

### **Results and Discussion**

No significant increase (LSD 0.10) in corn grain yield was found for either the constant N rate (CNR) or variable N rate (VNR) treatments compared to the control which had no N sidedressed. Forty pounds N per acre was applied during planting and was apparently enough fertilizer N to maximize yields. Observations throughout the growing season were that the control treatment showed no signs of N deficiency until mid-reproductive growth, and those symptoms were mild. It is interesting to note that lbs of N per bushel, including a 40 lb soybean credit, required to maximize yield is 0.40. Corn response to N fertilizer is highly variable. Page 27 figure 16 depicts large differences in economic optimum N rates over fairly short distances and shows small areas completely unresponsive to N fertilizer.

Figure 17. The Greenseeker<sup>™</sup> is an example of new technlogy that utilizes real-time sonsors that measure canopy reflectance of red and NIR light to apply N fertilizer variably to corn.



N Application	Grain	
Method	Yield	
	bushels/acre	
Control†	202	
CNR	200	
VNR 200		
LSD (0.10) N/S		
†The control treatment consisted of		
40lbs N/acre applied at planting.		

Table 10. Influence of N application method on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. The entire experimental area was treated with 40 lbs N per acre applied 2X2 during planting. The constant N rate (CNR) application method had 80 lbs N per acre sidedressed, while the variable N rate (VNR) had a variable rate of N sidedressed. N was varied by soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> - N levels according to Iowa State Universtiy N recommendation.

### **Split Versus Single Spring N Applications**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Corn growers often go to great lengths to "spoon feed" their crop with N fertilizer. Typically producers using sidedress applications of N believe some fraction of the crops total N requirement needs to be applied at or before planting. This thinking of supplying the crop with N before sidedress application revolves around the idea that corn grain yield is largely determined during early vegetative growth. While the potential number of ovules per plant are determined at V5 and V12, cultural practices such as fertilizer N applications have little impact on the potential for ovules to develop. Hybrid genetics, however, are almost entirely responsible for potential ovule development (Below and Brandau, 1992). Additionally, corn N requirements through the first five vegetative growth stages are no more than 5% of the crop total (Ritchie, 1993), usually less than 10 lbs N per acre. When N application time is the subject of experimentation, corn yields are unaffected by a lack of fertilizer N as long as N is applied within six weeks after planting (Reeves et al., 1993). Our objective was to determine the impact of two versus one Spring N application on the grain yield of corn when applied at planting and sidedress compared to a sidedress application.

#### **Methods**

Two methods of N application timing were implemented to determine the effect of a single sidedress versus a planting+sidedress (split) application of N on corn yield. The split N application consisted of 40 pounds N per acre applied 2X2 during planting followed by 80 pounds N per acre sidedressed at V4. The sidedress treatment had 120 pounds N per acre applied at V4. An unfertilized control was included to determine the crops response to fertilizer N. Each treatment was replicated three times and corn was planted on May 17th. The hybrid was Dairyland Stealth 1411Bt planted without tillage where the previous crop was soybean. The corn rootworm larval insecticide Force3G was "T" banded during planting.

Treatments: 3 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 17 May Hybrid: Dairyland Stealth 1411Bt Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. Degree Xtra @ 3 quarts and Atrazine @ 1 quart per acre applied pre-emerge. Clarity and 2,4-D @ 0.50 pint per acre each applied post-emerge. Insecticides: Force3G @ 4ounces per 1000 feet of row.

### **Split Versus Single Spring N Applications**

#### **Results and Discussion**

Corn grain yield increased significantly LSD (0.10) for both N treatments compared to the unfertilized (No-N) control (page 30, table 11). Yields were relatively high and although the No-N treatment produced 137 bushels per acre, when N was applied yields increased nearly 50 bushels per acre. Grain yields from the two methods of N application time (sidedress and planting+sidedress) were not significantly different. This indicates that although growers in many instances may go to some length to "spoon feed" their crop with N during seedling and early vegetative growth stages, it may be unnecessary. It is not unusual for delayed N applications to produce yields similar to much earlier applied N. Among the many examples in the literature, a recent Missouri study indicated that N applications can be delayed as late as V11 without suffering yield losses ( Scharf et al., 2002).

N Annlieotion	Croin
N Application	Grain
Time	Yield
	bushels / acre
No - N	137
Sidedress	187
Plant+Side	184
LSD (0.10)	19

Table 11. Influence of nitrogen fertilizer application time on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Both of the fertilized treatments received a total of 120 lbs N per acre.



### **Soil Fertility-Corn**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Optimum soil phosphorous (P), potassium (K), and acidity levels are critical for corn and soybean production in the Mid-Western United States. Soil P and K, and pH levels for crop production in Illinois have been well established (Hoeft and Peck, 2002). However, many Illinois crop producers maintain soil fertility well above levels considered sufficient. Corn grain yields in Illinois 1998-2002 averaged 144 and soybean 43 bushels per acre (University of Illinois, 2003). Average annual removal of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and K<sub>2</sub>O given current yields in a corn soybean rotation is 49 and 48 lbs per acre  $P_2O_5$  and  $K_2O_5$ , however, additions of fertilizer P and K over a similar time period (1998) - 2001) was 76 and 112 lbs per acre P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and K<sub>2</sub>O (Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service, 2001a). An overapplication of any input to the extent of 55%, as is the case with fertilizer P, represents a serious misallocation of resources, however, that inefficiency pales in comparison relative to fertilizer K which is overapplied by 133%. Our objectives are two fold. First, as an educational tool we will demonstrate production of corn and soybean with fertilizer applications equal to crop removal, and demonstrate corn and soybean production without fertilizer P and K and the accompanying deficiency symptoms to students at Joliet Junior College. Finally we will provide information to crop producers demonstrating crop production with fertilizer applications similar to crop removal.

#### **Methods**

Six soil fertility treatments were implemented in the Fall of 2001 with the intention of maintaining them for long-term evaluation. The 2003 crop is the second harvested since the study was implemented. The normal treatment consists of a typical soil fertility program for row crops in Illinois which includes soil pH maintained between 6.0 to 6.5 and annual applications of maintenance fertilizer P and K. Two additional treatments are similar to the normal but are missing either maintenance P or maintenance K, and a fourth treatment has no P or K applications. The fifth and sixth treatments were included with the intention of reducing and increasing soil pH. The acidic treatment receives no liming material while the basic receives three-fold the recomended lime.

Soil samples were taken and analyzed in the Fall of 2001. Soil K levels (363 lbs/acre exchangeable K+), are considered sufficient for row crops in North Eastern Illinois, requiring only maintenance K (Hoeft and Peck, 2002). Soil P levels (44 lbs/ acre available P) are slightly below the point at which only maintenance P applications would be necessary. Soil pH ranges from 5.9 to 7.4, somewhat high because of the calcareous nature of the parent material which is a loamy gravel with rock fragments of dolomitic limestone (Wascher et al., 1962). The depth to parent material is fairly shallow (2 to 3.5 feet) and in a few areas may only be covered with 15 inches of solum. The course textured and shallow parent material reduces the soil water holding capacity and makes the crop very susceptible to water stress when less than normal rainfall occurs.

# Soil Fertility-Corn

### **Methods**

Treatments: 6 Replications: 2 Planting Date: 27 April Hybrid: LG 2569G Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. Degree Xtra @ 3 quarts and Atrazine @ 1 quart per acre applied pre-emerge. Clarity and 2,4-D @ 0.50 pint per acre each applied post-emerge (V4).

Insecticides: Force3G @ 4ounces per 1000 feet of row.

#### **Results and Discussion**

No significant LSD (0.10) differences in grain yield were found among the six soil fertility treatments (page 32, figure 19). The two treatments without fertilizer potassium (K) tended to produce fewer bushels than K fertilized plots. The raw data contains considerable experimental error (variation not explained by treatments or replications) and as such the treatments had much less impact on overall variability than the experimental error (F test=0.62). Treatments of this study were begun in the Fall of 2001, two crops have been produced with the current soil fertility regimes and it is thought that over time differences between treatments will occur.



Figure 19. Effect of soil fertility treatment on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

### Yield Guard + ™

#### **Justification and Objective**

Monsanto made history in early 2003 with the U.S. EPA approval of transgenic <u>Bacillus thuringiensis</u> (Bt) rootworm corn. Genes from the Bt bacteria produce a protein with insecticidal activity on corn rootworm larvae (CRW). The Yield Guard<sup>™</sup> technology confers this insecticidal activity to corn plants for insect protection. Yield Guard<sup>™</sup> for european corn borer (ECB) has been used extensively for the past several years, now however, with both Bt traits (CRW and ECB) Monsanto has combined these two crop protection technologies together for a novel multiple insect protected plant. The stacking of these two traits should reduce crop losses associated with CRW and ECB. Our objective was to determine the effect of three levels of insect protected corn on grain yield.

#### **Methods**

Two insect protected transgenic isolines (Bt-RW and Bt-RW+CB) and the nontransgenic were planted on May 17th to evaluate their effect on corn yield. The Bt-RW+CB hybrid was Monsanto DKC60-14YG+ which employs Monsanto's Yield Guard +<sup>™</sup> technology. Each treatment was replicated twice, the previous crop was soybean, and no insecticides for either CRW or ECB were used.

Treatments: 3 Replications: 2 Planting Date: 17 May Hybrid: Monsanto DKC60-14YG+ and two isolines. Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. Degree Xtra @ 3 quarts and Atrazine @ 1 quart per acre applied pre-emerge. Clarity and 2,4-D @ 0.50 pint per acre each applied post-emerge (V4). Insecticides: None

#### **Results and Discussion**

The two transgenics (Bt-RW, Bt-CB+RW) produced 3.4 times more corn grain than the non-transgenic (page 34, table 12). The Bt-RW protects corn roots from corn rootworm (CRW) and the BT-RW+CB protects corn from both CRW and european corn borer (ECB). Yields between the two transgenics were nearly the same, indicating that the large increase in yield over the non-transgenic was the result of root protection from CRW and not ECB. This result is not surprising, as two nearby corn rootworm larval studies had severe root pruning when roots went unprotected. Additionally, field observations during August revealed severe lodging and root pruning of the non-transgenic plots, while damage occuring from ECB appeared to be minimal.

# Yield Guard + ™

Table 12. Effect of Monsanto corn hybrid DKC60-14YG+ (Bt-RW+CB) and two isolines on grain yield. The non-transgenic has no insect protection and the Bt-RW has corn rootworm protection, while the Bt-RW+CB has insect protection for both CRW and ECB. The previous crop was soybean and no insecticides were used for either CRW or ECB.

Yield Guard™	Grain	
Transgenic Technology	Yield	
	bushels/acre	
Non-Transgenic	56	
Bt - RW	196	
Bt - RW+CB	189	



### Intellicoat ™

#### **Justification and Objective**

Corn growers are planting earlier and the increase in conservation tillage acres results in more corn planted into cooler soils every year. A polymer seed coating (Intellicoat<sup>™</sup>) manufactured by Landec Ag Inc. is available to a number of seed companies. The coated seed is claimed to slow germination by preventing water imbibition during unfavorable environmental conditions (cool soil). The seed coating is supposed to be removed when exposed to warmer temperatures, probably degraded by soil microor-ganisms, allowing germination to proceed only when soils are relatively warm. Adding a synthetic type of dormancy to corn seed could be helpful for producers planting early into unfavorable environments in an attempt to complete planting by the end of the optimal period. Our objective was to evaluate the effect of intellicoat treated seed on harvest populations and grain yield.

#### **Methods**

Seed treated with and without the corn polymer seed coating Intellicoat<sup>™</sup> was planted on April 2nd at 32,000 seeds per acre to determine the effect of the seed coating on grain yield and plant population. The corn rootworm insecticide Aztec was applied in a "T" band and 40 lbs N per acre was placed 2X2 during the planting operation. No tillage was performed and weed control was accomplished with a pre-plant burndown followed by pre and post emerge herbicides. Corn was harvested on October 28th and plant population was measured at V5.

Treatments: 2 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 2 April Hybrid: Ag Venture 696 Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Symerton silt Ioam Herbicides:

RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied preplant (burndown). Epic @ 12 ounces and atrazine @ 2 quarts per acre applied pre-emerge. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied late-post (V7).

#### **Results and Discussion**

No difference in grain yield was found between the untreated and Intellicoat<sup>TM</sup> treated seed (page 36, table 13). Plant populations however, were increased with the Intellicoat<sup>TM</sup> seed (page 36, table 14). It is surprising that no increase in yield occurred despite a 4,200 plant per acre population increase with coated seed. Soil conditions were slightly wet at planting and a hard crust formed over the seed furrow after planting. When plants were emerging one month later we received a significant rainfall which softened the crusted soil. It is possible that a greater percentage of plants without the seed coating may have been emerging slightly earlier prior to the crust softening rainfall.

### Intellicoat ™

Table 13. Effect of the polymer seedcoating Intellicoat <sup>™</sup> on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Corn was planted on April 2nd.

Seed	Grain
Coating	Yield
	bushels/acre
Untreated	171
Intellicoat	172
LSD (0.10)	N/S

Table 14. Effect of the polymer seedcoating Intellicoat <sup>™</sup> on the plant population of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Corn was planted on April 2nd.

Seed	Plant	
Coating	Population	
	plants/acre	
Untreated	25,800	
Intellicoat	30,000	
LSD (0.10)	294	

### **Kernal Guard**

#### **Justification and Objective**

As a means to protect corn seed and seedlings from secondary insect pests (wireworm, seedcorn maggot, seedcorn beetle) growers planting corn in environments where corn rootworm larvae are not likely to injure corn roots, may find seed treatments such as Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> an economical alternative to planter-box insecticides. Additionally, corn planted in environments where seedling diseases routinely reduce seedling vigor or plant populations could benefit from the use of seed treatments with fungicidal activity. Our objective was to determine the effect on yield and harvest population of corn grown with and without Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup>.

#### **Methods**

The Gro-Tech corn hybrid H790 was planted with and without the seed treatment Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> (Active Ingredients: Captan, Diazinon, Lindane). Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> is labeled for seed and seedling protection against some secondary insect pests and seedling diseases. Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> was mixed with seed in the planter box at planting. Corn was planted at 32,000 plants per acre with a Kinze 3000 series planter which uses a finger-type pickup mechanism to secure individual kernels prior to release in the seed tube. Both treatments were replicated three times, the previous crop was soybean and no corn rootworm larval insecticide was used.

Treatments: 2 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 17 May Hybrid: Gro-Tech-Seed H790 Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied preplant (burndown). Degree Xtra @ 3 quarts and Atrazine @ 1 quart per acre applied pre-emerge. Clarity and 2,4-D @ 0.50 pint per acre each applied post-emerge (V4).

Insecticides: None

#### **Results and Discussion**

Corn yield was significantly increases (LSD 0.10) by the use of Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> treated seed (page 38, table 15). The increase in yield was achieved despite similar harvest populations among the two treatments (page 38, table 16). Yields for both treatments were relatively low as a result of heavy corn rootworm larval root pruning and root lodged plants. A corn rootworm insecticide was not used because it would likely mask the effects of any insect protection provided by Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup>.

# **Kernal Guard**

Table 15. Effect of the seed treatment Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> (Captan, Diazinon, Lindane) on the grain yield of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Seed	Grain	
Treatment	Yield	
	bushels/acre	
Untreated	120	
Kernal Guard	129	
LSD (0.10)	3	

Table 16. Effect of the seed treatment Kernal Guard<sup>™</sup> (Captan, Diazinon, Lindane) on the harvest population of corn grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Seed	Harvest	
Treatment	Population	
	Plants/Acre	
Untreated	27,000	
Kernal Guard	27,000	

## **Corn Hybrids**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Numerous corn hybrids are available to corn producers in the Mid-Western United States. In 2002 Illinois corn growers spent an average of \$36 dollars per acre acquiring seed from dozens of hybrid seed corn companies (University of Illinois, Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Economics, 2002). Our objective is to aid corn growers in making hybrid selections most suitable to their operations, and demonstrate to JJC students the large variety of hybrids currently offered in today's market.

#### **Methods**

Fifty-one corn hybrids were planted on April 30th at a rate of 32,000 seeds per acre with a model 3000 Kinze planter which uses a finger-type seed pickup mechanism. After each hybrid was planted leftover seeds were vacuumed out of the seed box and finger pickup mechanism. The corn rootworm larval insecticide Aztec2.1G was applied in a "T" band at planting with every hybrid. The check hybrid (Pioneer 34H31) was planted every 100 feet (10 hybrid entries) throughout the entire demonstration area. Each hybrid was evaluated on a relative scale by comparing it to the nearest check, which was never more than 5 entries (50 feet) away. Corn was harvested with a John Deere 9500 combine equiped with an Ag Leader PF3000 yield monitor that was used to measure grain yield. The demonstration area was zero-tilled and weeds were controlled with a pre-plant burndown of RoundupWM+2,4-D, followed by a pre-emerge application of Epic+Atrazine.

Hybrids: 51 Replications: Unreplicated demonstration Planting Date: 30 April Hybrid: Many Previous Crop: Soybean Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Symerton silt loam Herbicides:

RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. Epic @ 12 ounces+Atrazine @ 2quarts per acre applied pre-emerge. Insecticides:

#### **Results and Discussion**

The 51 corn hybrids had an average grain yield of 189 bushels per acre. Yields ranged 38 bushels per acre from a low of 168 to a high of 206. The check hybrid (Pioneer 34H31) averaged 198 bushels per acre, while all other hybrids averaged 187. Relative yields of the non-check entries averaged 96% and ranged from 85 to 107 percent of the check (page40, table7). Six hybrids (underlined) produced higher grain yields than the check. Twenty-seven hybrids (53%) were transgenic Bt, 24 of the 27 were Bt-CB and 3 were Bt-RW. Bt hybrids averaged 189 while non-Bt hybrids averaged 190 bushels per acre.

### **Corn Hybrids**

C despires	ir yizlə İscənari issərə	Tarta das	Gente Male	R date e delat	Table 17. Demon-
			1. Josef 1. STO	-16-	stration of the grain
FS .		8-09	24	<u>99</u>	and relative yields
Circ-r Tede	1996 Crist		200 Kal	80- 91	of 51corn hybrids
Fielder Ooke	TACR		2.2	and a	grown at Joliet Ju-
F2	ete Xia	8-09	26	66	nior College in 2003.
Planeer	24121		26	166	The check hybrid is
Carrow Tarle	Carl		<b>0</b> 5	909 810	Pioneer 34H31 (bold
Siebe	606	8-09	<b>1</b> 9		font) which aver-
Co-e	5666		<u>ee</u>	96- 1	aged 198 bushels
Dated	DISJT HDGT	<b>9-79</b>	(79) 191	96- 16-1	per acre, while all
<b>En ma</b>	XAW .	En-F2W		<u>*</u>	other hybrids aver-
de Verene	en ma		<u>(79</u>	96	aged 187. Note the
Citiz-ella Marcara	569 1.41 M		26		six hybrids (under-
Cracler	- 411-1 - 669 En	8-09	10	100 96	lined) with relative
Plonear	1448	9-09		9T	yields greater than
	al Mi	E-RW	104 	19	(>100) the check.
Pin Chana	100-0100 100-02		100 A	DD AT	
East lat	\$133		Ĩ.		
Gara	d star	En .	19 I	9 <del>6</del>	
	S-22-3 MAC-Carr	8-08	(79) al 0	96 64	
Grow Ted	Hên		26	66	
Planeer	24121		26	166	
Conveller Association	CELS- COC: De	<b>0.0</b> 0	298 - 201	99 66	
Gene		9-09			
de los ano	64/162	<b></b>	119 200	<u>85</u>	
Dutralues	See all the second second	<b>1</b> -01	018 (TS	- ñ	
Page 4	26CB	<b>1</b> -01	644	39	
<u>Baicle</u>		<b>6-0</b>	11 S	96- 1	
Curre Duteur	#15#/(3)) 1866			96- 64	
Planer	2413		160 C	10	
មរដ្ឋមន	医脊髓 医后		ni d	95-	
LLL Device	Andreas Catalon		105 AT	40	
Grant de au	<u>G</u> MS		294		
de los ane	64666			للا	
LG. Constitut	22602	0.00	(79) 664	91 20	
Duintum	Sanatik dén		24		
Wyodk	W 421	8-09	er.	<u>88</u>	
Planeer	24129		166	100	
Grow Ted	156		al d		
Dær	20-68a	8-09	66	66	
Fá -	667 M Lafe			<u> </u>	
Caller Parkell Caller to a second	propri dalla Spaniti Car		10 10	20 01	
by Warner	ผ่านเวล	8-09	24	м. М	
Honer	2413		20	166	
The spectrum region of the second s	y tana kanalishad ya 1 m Rumyana (arra Rum	in hai procesi 1935, réan Park	y a fasin ka <sub>b</sub> indhai waa 1974),	Lada da p	

Philipsylds, waarahabdaali yabdahagii ayada yidaala gira iiyidaa saaraala (). Wiiila gada yidaalii waxaada bada aa sa kada () waxaa digiyida gi yidii.

### **Soybean Row Spacing and Seeding Rates**

#### **Justification and Objective**

During the mid to late 1990's Illinois soybean planted in row spacings between 10 to 19 inches was increasing while spacings between 29 to 35 inches were declining (Adee and Pepper, 2000). By 1998 soybean acreages in both categories were similar and combined to make up nearly half of the Illinois soybean crop. Soybean row spacing influences canopy light interception which becomes critical in determining seed yield during seed set (R3 - R5) (Andrade et al., 2002). Generally there are small increases in soybean yield as row spacing narrows below that of the traditional 30 inch spacing, and the benefit from reduced row spacing is maximized at row widths of 15 to 20 inches wide (Pepper, 2000). Since light interception during the R3 through R5 growth stages is critical for maximum seed yield, cultural practices that enhance canopy closure before seed set generally increase yield. Practices that enhance canopy closure are; early to normal planting dates, planting late season cultivars, and avoiding double cropping. Soybean plant densities greater than 150,000 plants per acre rarely increase seed yield in Illinois (Nafziger, 2002a). However, practices that delay canopy closure during early reproductive growth are scenarios likely to respond to populations greater than 150,000 plants per acre. Our objectives were to determine the impact of row spacing and harvest populations on the seed yield of soybean, and demonstrate these effects to students at Joliet Junior College.

#### **Methods**

Four seeding rates (75, 125, 175, and 225 thousand seeds per acre) and two row spacings (15 and 30 inches) were planted on May 21st to determine the effect of both variables on soybean seed yield. No-tillage was used and weed control was accomplished with a Fall burndown that included herbicides with residual activity, followed by a post-emerge application of RoundupWM. Excellent weed control was accomplished irrespective of row spacing or seeding rate. The crop was harvested on October 31st with a John Deere 9500 combine and a modern grain table.

Treatments: 8 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 21 May Soybean Cultivar: Pioneer 92M70 Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt loam Herbicides: CanopyXL@2.5ounces+Express@0.15ounces+2,4-D@1pint per acre applied Fall pre-plant. RoundupWM @21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge (V2). Insecticides: None

### Soybean Row Spacing and Seeding Rates

### **Results and Discussion**

No significant increase (LSD 0.10) in seed yield occured for harvest populations greater than 75,000 plants per acre (page 42, table 18). Seed yield plateaued for both row spacings at 118,000 plants per acre and was significantly reduced at 203,000. At 156,000 plants per acre 15 inch row soybean produced yields similar to 118,000, however, in 30 inch row spacing there was a significant decrease. Overseeding in 30 inch row spacing tended to reduce yield to a greater extent than similar populations in 15 inch rows. Severe lodging at the two highest populations, especially for the 30 inch row spacing, may be partly responsible for the yield loss. One possibility is that greater harvest losses occured when plants were lodged, additionally, the existing canopy may not have been as effective at light interception with lodged plants. When soybean plants lodge they do not necessarily do so in a completely random manner, resulting in "bunches" of lodged plants and sunlight striking the ground instead of being intercepted by the canopy. When row spacing was averaged over the four harvest populations (page 42, table 19), 15 inch row spacing produced significantly (LSD 0.10) higher soybean yield. The three bushel advantage was identical to our findings in 2002 and is similar to the findings of numerous soybean row spacings studies conducted throughout the North-Central U.S. (Dayton and Lowenberg-DeBoer, 2003).

	Row Spacing		
Harvest	15"	30"	
Population	Seed Yield		
Plants/Acre	Bushe	ls/Acre	
75,000	47	47	
118,000	50	48	
156,000	49	43	
203,000	46	40	
LSD (0.10)	4	4	

Table 18. Influence of harvest population and row spacing on the seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Row	Seed	
Spacing	Yield	
Inches	Bushels/Acre	
15	48	
30	45	
LSD (0.10)	3	

Table 19. Influence of row spacing on the seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Row spacings are the average of the four harvest populations.

# **Soybean Row Spacing and Seeding Rates**

Figure 22. Soybean planted at 175,000 (156,000 harvest population) seeds per acre and grown in 30 (top) and 15 (bottom) inch rows. Photograph was taken on July 14th. Plants had just begun to flower (R1) and had six fully developed trifoliates. Note the incomplete canopy with the 30 inch row spacing, while 15 inch row soybean is maximizing light interception.



#### **Justification and Objective**

Large numbers of herbicides and various combinations of herbicidal compounds are available to Mid-Western soybean growers for control of broadleaf and grassy weeds. Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service (2002a) lists 16 herbicides applied to soybean in Illinois in 2001. These herbicides range from Blazer applied to as little as 3% and roundup applied to 72% of soybean. Our objectives were three fold. First, provide a demonstration of the weed efficacy of commonly used soybean herbicide treatments in the Midwest to students at Joliet Junior College. Second, demonstrate the combination of the effects of weed efficacy and potential herbicide injury to crops. Finally, provide soybean growers with information concerning efficacy and crop injury of commonly used herbicides.

#### **Methods**

Six soybean herbicide treatments and a no-herbicide control were implemented. Page44, table 21 lists the site(s) of action for each treatment. Weed efficacy ratings were taken after maturity and before harvest. All herbicide applications were made with flat-fan extended range (XR) type orifices.

Treatments: 7 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 19 May Soybean Cultivar: Great Lakes GL2709 Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt Ioam Herbicides: Many Insecticides: None Table 20. Herbicide trade name and application time of six soybean herbicide treatments. The timing of burndown application for each treatment is listed after the dash (-). Herbicides in this table have their active ingredients listed in the same order in table 21 below.

Herbicide Trade Name(Appl.Time)		
RoundupWM(post) - No Burndown		
RoundupWM(post) - Spring Burndown		
RoundupWM(post) - Fall Burndown		
RoundupWM(Late-post) - Spring Burndown		
Raptor(Late-post) - Spring Burndown		
Pursuit(Late-post) - Spring Burndown		

Table 21. Active ingredient, application rate, and site of action of six soybean herbicide treatments. Active ingredients listed after the dash (-) refer to the pre-plant burndown applied in either the Spring or Fall as designated in table 20.

Ani ve ingrediant	Application Rate	Bite of Action †		
	lb c al.(a.e.) / aore			
Gipter / er	(0.76)	679 P		
Giphanan-Giphana-276	(0.76)+(0.76)+(0.48)	EPSP-EPSP-OR		
Glyphaette - Chiarinetran, Seldentry sane-Friheretran-2, «E	1675(-6645-6670-46440-4676)	EP8P-ALE, HPPD+AL8+OR		
Glyphanian - Glyphanian 27 C	(0.76)+(0.76)+(0.48)	EPSP-EPSP+OR		
instatures: - Glyphaeta+2,-C	(D.028)+(D.76)+(D.48)	ALB-EPBP+OR		
invantury, - Giyphanan-27-E	(0.083)+(0.76)+(0.48)	ALB- EPBP+OR		
†GE =Growth regulation. 11990. •Hydrosyn hen yl pyrtes ar elliwygens v elinhi hiton. Al Gebraetais as te v yn dwe elinhibit an				
E RGP = Enal phymery i while in a section physical Synchrone in hill inc.				

### **Results and Discussion**

The experimental area contains heavy weed pressure as can be seen in the top half of page 46, figure 23. Despite the heavy weed pressure some level of weed control was achieved through pre-plant tillage and multiple innterow cultivations (bottom half of figure 23. However, all four treatments with post(V2) or late-post(V4) emerge RoundupWM significantly (LSD (0.20) increased soybean seed yield compared to the no-herbicide treatment (page 45, table 22). Of the three RoundupWM post applied treatments (data in box), the No burndown had the poorest weed control and lowest yield. The Spring applied burndown resulted in both an intermediate control rating and seed yield, while the Fall applied burndown which included herbicides with residual activity produced perfect weed control and the highest yield. Soybean grown without a burndown herbicide (page 47, figure 24) had extremely heavy weed competition from emergence until RoundupWM was applied at V2 (bottom of figure 24). Additionally, the no-burndown treatment had heavy late-season weed competition as the efficacy was only 60% at maturity, table 22. The late season weed infestation of the no-burndown treatment was the result of an early RoundupWM application combined with no residual herbicide activity. Although the post (V2) application may seem relatively early to many, it's importance cannot be overemphasized in this environment. Note the similarity between the vields and the large difference between weed control of the RoundupWM no-burndown and RoundupWM applied late-post with a Spring burndown. The late-post (V4) application killed all emerged weeds and the large canopy at that time prevented any new weed emergence resulting in perfect weed control, but less than optimum yields when compared to earlier (V2) post applications with Spring or Fall burndowns. RoundupWM applied post(V2) with a pre-plant burndown that included herbicides with residual soil activity produced perfect weed control and the highest seed yield. If a burndown does not have residual activity it is more economical to apply RoundupWM post and live with some weeds than to apply late-post and achieve perfect weed control.

Table 22. Effect of six herbicide treatments, thier application time, and type of burndown (after dash) on weed efficacy and seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Post is defined as V2 and late-post is V4. Weed efficacy ratings were taken after maturity but before harvest. Treatments are listed in the same order as in both tables on page44.

Herbicide Trade Name(Appi.Time)	Appi. Rate	Weed Efficacy	Seed Yield
	оцпсе в /зсте	% Control	bu she i s <i>h</i> adre
No Herbicide, Internow Cultivation	—	0	42
Roundup\AM(po∎t) - No Burndown	21	60	50
Roundup AM(post) - Spring Burndown‡	21	83	55
Roundup\A∰(po∎t) - Fall Burndown†	21	100	59
Roundup∿∿M(Late-po∎t) - Spring Burndown	21	<u>100</u>	<u>49</u>
Raptor(Late-poet) - Spring Eurndown	5	92	44
Puriul tog (Late-poit) - Spring Burndown	1. 44	48	43
LSD(0.20)			7
theil burndown consisted on CencpγIL@2.5cz.ecre+Express@1/5cz.ecre+2.+U@^ptsecre. The ective			
ingradiants in Canocolt, and Chionniuron and Sultantracon	na, while Expression	interver.	

‡Spring burntown consisted of RoundupWM@@roz.eore#2.4D@/pt/eore\_

Figure 23. The treatment without herbicide applications, only mechanical weed control was used. Photograph at top was taken on June 23rd before interrow cultivation. The bottom photo was taken on July 7th after one interrow cultivation and considerable rainfall.



Figure 24. The no-burndown treatment the day before RoundupWM application on June 17th (top), two weeks after application (bottom).



# **Soybean Planting Date**

#### **Justification and Objective**

A relatively large window exists for planting soybean in Illinois. The planting window extends from late April to late May and provides a fairly large cushion for timely planting when compared to corn (Pepper, 2000). Generally however, when planting is pushed into early June yields decline rapidly. Our objective was to determine the effect planting date has on soybean seed yield, and to demonstrate the effects of various planting dates on growth and development to Joliet Junior College students.

#### **Methods**

Soybean was planted on three dates (9-April, 19-May, 6-June) in 15 inch row spacing at 175,000 seeds per acre with the Seiben cultivar 2900NRR. Each treatment was replicated three times and weed control was achieved with a pre-plant burndown followed by two post-emerge applications of RoundupWM. The crop was harvested on October 31st.

Treatments: 3 Replications: 3 Planting Date: Three; 9-April, 19-May, 6-June. Soybean Cultivar: Seiben 2900NRR Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt Ioam Herbicides: RoundupWM@ 21 ounces+2,4-D@1pint per acre applied pre-plant. RoundupWM@ 21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge. RoundupWM@ 21 ounces per acre applied late-post-emerge. Insecticides: None



Figure 25. Defoliation of soybean caused by bean leaf beetle adult feeding. Bean leaf beetle adults often cause greater injury to soybean planted early, compared to later planting dates.

# **Soybean Planting Date**

#### **Results and Discussion**

Soybean planted in early April and mid-May produced similar seed yields, although when planting was delayed until early June yields declined significantly (LSD 0.25) (page 49, table 23). These results are similar to those found by Grau et al. (1994) who noted large yield reductions with mid to late June planted soybean compared to May plantings. No difference was found in harvest populations among the planting dates (table 23), although it is worthwhile to note that all seed was dropped at 175,000 seeds per acre making the seeding efficiency fairly poor regardless of planting date.

Table 23. Effect of planting date on harvest population and seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003. Seeding rate was 175,000 seeds per acre.

Planting	Harvest	Seed
Date	Population	Yield
	Plants/Acre	Bushels/Acre
9-April	113,000	49
19-May	121,000	50
6-June	121,000	43
LSD (0.25)	N/S	6



Figure26. Soybean planted on 9-April in the middle of May. Upon close inspection most of these plants had defoliation from Bean Leaf Beetle adults similar to figure25 on page48.

# **Soybean Planting Date**

Figure 27. Early(left) VS. late(right) planted soybean on June 30th(top) and July 14th (bottom). On July 14th early planted soybean is in full bloom(R2) and has 12 fully developed trifoliates, while late planted has 5 fully developed trifoliates and will not be in full bloom for another 12 days. **Planting Date** 



### **Soybean Fungicidal Seed Treatment**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Nearly half of Illinois soybean is grown using conventional tillage systems (<30% residue coverage at planting), 1/3 using zero tillage, and the balance mulch tillage (>30% residue cover at planting) (Conservation Technology and Information Center, 1996). One reported disadvantage of zero and reduced tillage soybean is the greater necessity for fungicidal seed treatments. It is thought that zero and reduced tillage systems having higher soil water contents, increase the incidence of diseases such as the fungal watermold *Pythium* (Pederson et al., 2001). Currently there are two main combinations of fungicidal seed treatments for soybean growers to choose from, they are; Maxim (fludioxonil) + Apron XL (mefenoxam) and Rival (Captan, TBZ, and PCNB) + Allegiance (metalaxyl). Our objective was to determine the responsiveness of soybean to the fungicidal seed treatments RIVAL<sup>™</sup> + ALLEGIANCE<sup>™</sup>.

#### **Methods**

The fungicidal seed treatment RIVAL<sup>™</sup> (Captan, TBZ, and PCNB)+ ALLE-GIANCE<sup>™</sup> (Metalaxyl) and an untreated control were replicated three times to determine the effect of a soybean seed treatment on yield. The cultivar Dairyland Seed 340RR was seeded at 175,000 seeds per acre with and without RIVAL<sup>™</sup> + ALLE-GIANCE<sup>™</sup> on May 19th. The row spacing was 15 inches and RondupWM was used for weed control. The crop was harvested on October 31st.

Treatments: 2 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 19 May Soybean Cultivar: Dairyland Seed 340RR with and without a seed treatment. Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21ounces+2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. RoundupWM @ 21ounces per acre applied post-emerge. RoundupWM @ 21ounces per acre applied late post-emerge. Insecticides: None

# **Soybean Fungicidal Seed Treatment**

### **Results and Discussion**

Seed treated with the fungicidal seed treatment RIVAL<sup>™</sup> + ALLEGIANCE<sup>™</sup> significantly increased (LSD 0.10) seed yield compared to the untreated control (page 52, table 24). The seed treatment however, did not increase harvest population. It is not surprising in a zero-till environment with twice the normal rainfall in the first half of May (page5, figure1) that an increase in yield occured with the treated seed, as wetter soil environments are likely scenarios for a seed treatment response (Pederson et al., 2001).

Table 24. Effect of the fungicidal seed treatment RIVAL<sup>™</sup> + ALLEGIANCE<sup>™</sup> on the harvest population and seed yield of sovbean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Seed	Harvest	Seed
Treatm ent	Population	Yield
	Plants/Acre	Bushels/Acre
Untreated	152,000	47
Treated	148,000	50
LSD (0.10)	N/S	1



Figure 28. Damping off of soybean caused by the water mold fungus *Pythium*. This type of seedling injury can also be caused by *Phytophthora*. Injury from *Pythium* and *Phytophthora* is common when soybean is planted into cool wet environments that reduce seedling growth rates and allow greater infection of fungi.

### **Soil Compaction**

#### **Justification and Objective**

As the size of farms increase and the size of equipment required to seed and harvest crops on a timely basis also increases, soil compaction becomes a greater concern for crop producers. Soil compaction is defined as a process of "rearrangement of soil particles to decrease pore space and increase bulk density" (Singer and Munns, 1987). The reduction in soil porosity from compaction is at the expense of larger pores (macropores), creating a soil with a greater proportion of smaller pores (micropores) (Wolkowski, 1990). Macropores are crucial for soil internal drainage (percolation) and when soil is compacted the remaining pore space has a higher percentage of water. The increase in water retention associated with compacted soils results in a more anaerobic environment which increases N losses through denitrification and reduces root growth, as roots require oxygen for respiration. Soil compaction caused by heavy wheel traffic has been found to reduce corn grain yield (Wolkowski and Bundy, 1990). Our objective was to determine the impact of soil compaction caused by excessive wheel traffic on soybean seed yield.

#### **Methods**

A compacted and a non-compacted control treatment were established in the Spring of 2002 to determine the effects of soil compaction over several years on corn and soybean yields. The compacted treatment consists of soil compacted twice during April of 2002 and once during April of 2003. Soil was compacted before planting by excessive wheel traffic when relatively wet (too wet for Spring tillage and planting operations) but not saturated. No ruts were created during the soil compaction process. A John Deere 4020 with 200 gallons of water carried primarily on the rear axle was driven slowly over the compacted plots so that the tractor footprint was run over the entire soil surface. The soybean cultivar LG C2982NRR was planted on May 21st at 175,000 seeds per acre. The crop was harvested on October 31<sup>st</sup>.

Treatments: 2 Replications: 3 Planting Date: 21 May Cultivar: LG C2982NRR Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces + 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge. Insecticides: None

# **Soil Compaction**

#### **Results & Discussion**

Compacted soil had no effect on soybean yield (page 54, table 25). When observations were made throughout the growing season of the compacted and noncompacted plots, no visual effect was noted. This study will be continued in the same location for the foreseeable future in a corn soybean rotation with annual wheel traffic compaction in the same experimental units (plots). It is hoped that this work will provide a good indication of long-term annual soil compaction on crop productivity.

Table 25. Effect of soil compaction on the seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Soil	Seed	
Compaction	n Yield	
	bushels/acre	
Control	45	
Compacted	44	
LSD (0.10)	N/S	

Figure 29. A typical soil compaction situation caused by continuous use of a moldboard plow. Note the center layer requiring very high pressure for penetration.



Figure 30. Effect of compacted soil on corn root distribution. Note the horizontal and shallow growth of roots in the compacted soil (A) compared to the non-compacted (B).



### Soil Fertility-Soybean

#### **Justification and Objective**

Optimum soil phosphorous (P), potassium (K), and acidity levels are critical for corn and soybean production in the Mid-Western United States. Soil P and K, and pH levels for crop production in Illinois have been well established (Hoeft and Peck, 2002). However, many Illinois crop producers maintain soil fertility well above levels considered sufficient. Corn grain yields in Illinois over the last five years have averaged 144 and soybean 43 bushels per acre (University of Illinois, 2002). Average annual removal of P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> and K<sub>2</sub>O given current yields in a corn soybean rotation is 49 and 48 lbs per acre  $P_2O_5$  and  $K_2O$ , however, additions of fertilizer P and K over a similar time period (1998 - 2000) was 74 and 111 lbs per acre  $P_2O_5$  and  $K_2O$  (Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service, 2001a). An overapplication of any input to the extent of 51%, as is the case with fertilizer P, represents a serious misallocation of resources, however, that inefficiency pales in comparison relative to that of fertilizer K which is overapplied by 131%. Our objectives are two fold. First, as an educational tool we will demonstrate production of corn and soybean with fertilizer applications equal to crop removal, and demonstrate corn and soybean production without fertilizer P and K and the accompanying defficiency symptoms to students at Joliet Junior College. Finally we will provide information to crop producers demonstrating crop production with fertilizer applications similar to crop removal.

#### **Methods**

Six soil fertility treatments were implemented in the Fall of 2001 with the intention of maintaining them for long-term evaluation. The 2003 crop is the second harvested since the study was implemented. The normal treatment consists of a typical soil fertility program for row crops which includes soil pH maintained between 6.0 to 6.5 and annual applications of maintenance fertilizer P and K. Two additional treatments are similar to the normal but are missing either the maintenance P or maintenance K, and a fourth treatment has no P or K applications. The fifth and sixth treatments were included with the intention of reducing and increasing soil pH. The acidic treatment receives no liming material while the basic receives threefold the recommended lime.

Soil samples were taken and analyzed in the Fall of 2001. Soil K levels (363 lbs/acre exchangeable K+), are considered sufficient for row crops in North Eastern IIlinois, requiring only maintenance K (Hoeft and Peck, 2000). Soil P levels (44 lbs/acre available P) are slightly below the point at which only maintenance P would be necessary. Soil pH ranges from 5.9 to 7.4, somewhat high because of the calcareous nature of the parent material which is a loamy gravel with rock fragments of dolomitic limestone (Wascher et al., 1962). The depth to the parent material is fairly shallow (2 to 3.5 feet) and in a few areas may only be covered with 15 inches of solum. The course textured and shallow parent material reduces the soil water holding capacity and makes the crop very susceptible to water stress when less than normal rainfall occurs.

# Soil Fertility-Soybean

### **Methods**

Treatments: 6 Replications: 2 Planting Date: 19 May Cultivar: FS HS2826 Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Will silty clay loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces and 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge. Insecticides: None

### **Results and Discussion**

No significant differences (LSD 0.10) were found among the six soil fertility treatments (page56, figure31). Similar to the corn in 2003 (page 32, figure 19), the two treatments without potassium (K) tended to yield less than the other four treatments. Treatments of this study were begun in the Fall of 2001, two crops have been produced with the current soil fertility regimes and it is thought that over time differences between treatments will occur.



Figure 31. Effect of soil fertility treatment on the seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

### Soybean Aphid

#### **Justification and Objective**

Soybean aphid (*Aphis glycines*) is a new pest of soybean in the Mid-West. Originating in Asia it is now found throughout Illinois and nearby States. First detected in the year 2000, and thought to have gone undetected for the preceding few years, soybean aphid was of minor concern during the 2002 growing season (Cook, 2003). In 2003 soybean aphid densities were high throughout Illinois which raised concerns about treating the pest to prevent economic losses. Aphids were first detected in the field in Illinois during the 2003 growing season on May 29th by workers at the J.F. Richards: Demonstration and Research Farm at Joliet Junior College. Aphids could be found at Joliet Junior College throughout the rest of the growing season. Our objective was to determine the impact of treating soybean aphid on soybean seed yield.

#### **Methods**

On August 13th the insecticide WarriorT was broadcast at 2.4 ounces per acre for control of soybean aphid. The soybean crop was R4 and although soybean aphid could easily be found, densities were considerably higher 10 days earlier. Four strips were sprayed with a large commercial pesticide applicator owned by the Hintzsche organization at the Minooka plant. Soybean was seeded at 175,000 seeds per acre in 15 inch row spacing. The crop was harvested on October 31st by harvesting the center 25 feet of each 40 foot wide treated swath, and harvesting an adjacent untreated swath.

Treatments: 2 Replications: 4 Planting Date: 21 May Cultivar: Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt loam Herbicides: RoundupWM @ 21 ounces + 2,4-D @ 1pint per acre applied pre-plant. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge. Insecticides: None

# Soybean Aphid

### **Results and Discussion**

Soybean treated with WarriorT significantly (LSD 0.12) increased seed yield compared to the untreated control (page 58, table 26). The two bushel increase may have paid for the application and the insecticide, although little profit was likely gained.

Figure 26. Influence of soybean aphid insecticide treatment (WarriorT applied at 2.4 ounces per acre) during the R4 growth stage on the seed yield of soybean grown at Joliet Junior College in 2003.

Soybean Aphid	Seed	
Treatment	Yield	
	bushels/acre	
Untreated	44	
Treated	46	
LSD (0.12)	2	

Figure 32. Soybean aphid much magnified with the pubescence on a soybean pod. Below, aphids on a pod much less magnified and on the underside of a leaflet (right).



### **Soybean Varieties**

#### **Justification and Objective**

Numerous soybean cultivated varieties (cultivars) are available to Mid-Western soybean producers. In Illinois soybean growers spend \$19 per acre acquiring soybean seed from dozens of seed supplying companies (University of Illinois, Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Economics, 2002). Our objective is to aid Mid-Western soybean growers in choosing cultivars most profitable in their operations, and to demonstrate to students different morphological characteristics of various soybean cultivars.

#### **Methods**

Soybean varieties were planted in a timely manner and seeded at 175,000 seeds per acre in 15 inch rows. Thirty one cultivars were entered in this unreplicated varietal demonstration. The check variety (Dairyland Seed, DSR-301RR) was entered five times in the demonstration which was 613 feet wide, and each entry consisted of 14 15 inch rows or 17.5 feet wide and 400 feet in length. The checks were separated by six varieties, as such any given variety was never more than three entries (52.5 feet) from a check. Each variety was evaluated on a relative scale by comparing it to the nearest check. Soybean was harvested with a John Deere 9500 combine equiped with an Ag Leader PF3000 yield monitor that was used to measure seed yield. The demonstration area was zero-tilled and weeds were controlled with a Fall applied preplant burndown followed by a post-emerge application of RoundupWM.

Number of entries: 31 Replications: None Planting Date: 22 May Soybean Cultivar: Many Previous Crop: Corn Tillage: Zero Soil Series: Warsaw silt Ioam Herbicides: CanopyXL@2.5ounces+Express@0.15ounces+2,4-D@1pint per acre applied Fall pre-plant. RoundupWM @ 21 ounces per acre applied post-emerge. Insecticides: None

### **Soybean Varieties**

#### **Results and Discussion**

The 31 soybean varieties had an average seed yield of 51 bushels per acre. Yields ranged 15 bushels per acre from a low of 43 to a high of 59. The check variety (Dairyland DSR-301RR) is emboldened in table 27 and averaged 50.2 bushels per acre. Relative yields averaged 101.7% and ranged from 87 to 113 percent of the check. Entries finishing in the top 25% are underlined.

Company	Varietai		Relative Yield†	Table 27. Demonstra-
Name	Nomenolature	Bood Yield	Neare ct Check	tion of the seed and
		Bushels / Acre	- % -	relative yield of 31
Sleben	<b>2900 N</b> R.R.	54.4	100	soybean varieties
Garst	ZEIZRAMU	53.6	102	grown at Joliet Ju-
Bedes	37388	58.8	117	nior College in 2003.
Dairyland	D8R-301RR	62.8	100	The eight underlined
LO 10	CZSEZNAR	<del>55</del> 9	105	cultivars had relative
Ag Venlure	AV6292NRR	49.3	54	vields in the top 25%
GreatLakes	GLEDER R.R.	<del>55</del> .9	105	of optrios All oultivar
Muger	K ZEORR	<b>50.2</b>	102	
Deiner	DEIZH 10 R-NQ 5	45.4	52	are transgenic round-
Cropian	RTZ#8	50.3	102	up ready.
Dairyland	D8R-201RR	48.8	100	
Grous	<u>076198.</u>	55.5	10	
Citatism		<u>95.5</u>	113	
Golden Hanues I	H-3135RR	43.4	 	
Hugnes	261 NR	4.6.4	<u>88</u>	
Seden	88.441.4W NR	49.5	100	
81		50	100	
Lairyiano Biocean	DBR-201RR	48.8	1W 	
Oral	20/1200	40.1 0C 7		
Crows	0.79159	65.5	117	
Dailaiteed			101	
Delner	D7511C 8-NO-5	5	101	
ktiner	K-252-78.8	44	 99	
Dairviand	D8R-201RR	48.2	100	
Becks	II N RR	49.6	101	
Dairyland	DSR-253RR	49.6	101	
Ag Venture		49.3	100	
<u>Greatales</u>	<u>OLZ7IBRR</u>	<u>96.2</u>	<u>11</u>	
<u>ь</u>	CHHZZNRR	50	100	
F8	H83276	50	100	
Cairyland	D8R-301RR	60	100	
<u>Golden Harues i</u>	<u>H-2527 R.R.</u>	<u>95 9</u>	112	
Adler	ZERRN	43.7	8	
Ploneer	Selles.	<u>552</u>	<u>112</u>	
† Rebids e gleid war zo	larged by dividing d	egrain steld of a glo	en al dwr	
in intervier, with the g	rain yield of the neares	s chiech i deno ni ruso	(2nd	
null dp lying by 166.				

ative yield of 31 bean varieties wn at Joliet Jur College in 2003. e eight underlined tivars had relative Ids in the top 25% entries. All cultivars transgenic roundready.

### References

- Adee, E., and G. Pepper. 2000. Soybean seeding rates: Should they change with row spacing? Agronomy Day 2000. [Online] Available at: http://aronomyday.cropsci.uiuc.edu/2000/soybean-seed-rates/
- Andrade, F.H. 2002. Yield Responses to Narrow Rows Depend on Increased Radiation Interception. Agronomy Journal. 94:975-980.
- Below, F.E., and P.S. Brandau. 1992. Effect of N rate on reproductive components of two genotypes. Agronomy Abstracts.
- Below, F.E. 1995. Nitrogen Metabolism and Crop Productivity. *In* M. Pessarakli edited. Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology. Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Blackmer, A.M., R.D. Voss, and A.P. Mallarino. 1997. Nitrogen Fertilizer Recommenda tions for Corn in Iowa. Iowa State University. University Extension. Ames, Iowa. Pm-1714.
- Conservation Technology and Information Center. 1996. Crop Residue Management -Illinois.[Online] Available at: http://.../CRMMap.exe?Year=1996&Output= Percentages&Area= Illinois&Image=IL&Button=State+Su13/00.
- Cook, K. Soybean Aphid Story: 2003. Pest Management & Crop Development Bulletin. No. 22/September 5, 2003.
- Dayton, L.M. and J. Lowenberg-DeBoer. 2003. Economic Analysis of Row Spacing for Corn and Soybean. Agronomy Journal. 95:564-573.
- Doerge, T.A. Variable Rate Nitrogen Management for Corn Production-Success Proves Elusive. Site Specific Management Guidelines, SSMG-36. PPI. Ref.#01097.
- Eghball, B., J.S. Schepers, M. Negahban, and M. R. Schlemmer. 2003. Spatial and Temporal Variability of Soil Nitrate and Corn Yield: Multifactal Analysis. Agronomy Journal. 95:339-346.
- Fox, R.H., J.M. Dern, and W.P. Piekielek. 1986. Nitrogen Fertilizer Source, and Method and Time of Application Effects on No-Till Corn Yields and Nitrogen Uptakes. Agronomy Journal. 78:741-746.
- Grau, C.R., E.S. Oplinger, E.A. Adee, E.A. Hinkens, and M.J. Martinka. 1994. Planting Date and Row Width Effect on Severity of Brown Stem Rot and Soybean Pro ductivity. Journal of Produciton Agriculture 7:347-351.
- Gray, M.E., K.L. Steffey, and H. Oloumi-Sadeghi. 1993. Participatory On-Farm Research in Illinois Cornfields: An Evaluation of Established Soil Insecticide Rates and Prevalence of Corn Rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Injury. J. of Econ. Entomol. 86:1473-1482.
- Gray, M.E., and K.L. Steffey. 2002. Western Corn Rootworms: The Variant Continues Its Spread. *In* Pest Management & Crop Development Bulletin. No. 24/ Novem ber 1, 2002.
- Hoeft, R.G., and T.R. Peck. 2002. Soil testing and fertility. p. 84-124. *In* Illinois Agronomy Handbook: 2000. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana, IL.Fox, R.H., and W.P.
- Hoeft, R. G., E. D. Nafzinger, R. R. Johnson, and S.R. Aldrich. 2000. Modern Corn and Soybean Production. p. 64.
- Hoeft, R.G., E.D. Nafziger, L.C. Gonzini, J.J. Warren, E.A. Adee, L.E. Paul, and R.E. Dunker. 2002. Strip till, N placement, and starter fertilizer effects on corn growth and yield. *In* R.G. Hoeft Edited, Illinois Fertilizer Conference 2002 Proceedings. [Online] Available at: http://frec.cropsci.uiuc.edu/2002/report2/index.htm.
- Hoeft, R. G., E. D. Nafzinger, R. R. Johnson, and S.R. Aldrich. 2000a. Modern Corn

### References

- Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service. 2002. 2002 Illinois Annual Summary. Fertilizer and Chemicals. [Online] Available at: http://www.agstats.State.il.us/annual/ 2002/02105.htm.
- Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service. 2002a. 2002 Illinois annual summary. Fertilizer and Chemicals. Soybeans: Agriculture fertilizer and chemical applications, Illinois, 2001. [Online] Available at: http://www.agstats.state.il.us/annual/2002/02106.htm.
- Illinois Agricultural Statistical Service. 2000. Fertilizer and Chemical Usage. Corn: Agriculture fertilizer and chemical applications, Illinois, 2000. [Online]

Available at: http://www.agstats.state.il.us/annual/2001/01111.htm.

- Levine, E., and H. Oloumi-Sadeghi. 1996. Western Corn Rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Larval Injury to Corn Grown for Seed Production Following Soybeans Grown for Seed Production.
- Levine, E., J.L. Spencer, S.A. Isard, D.W. Onstad, and M.E. Gray. 2002. Adaptation of the Western Corn Rootworm to Crop Rotation: Evolution of a New Strain in Response to a Management Practice. American Entomologist. Summer 2002. p. 94-107.
- Nafziger, E.D. 1996. Effects of missing and two-plant hills on corn grain yield. Jour nal of Production Agriculture. 9:238-240.
- Nafziger, E.D. 2002. Corn, Chapter 2. *In* Illinois Agronomy Handbook: 2002. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana, IL.
- Nafziger, E.D. 2002a. Soybean, Chapter 3. *In* Illinois Agronomy Handbook: 2002. Univ. of Illinois, Urbana, IL.
- Oleson, J., and J. Tollefson. 2000. New method for understanding corn rootworm injury. [Online] Available at: http://www.ipm.iastate.edu/ipm/icm/2003/3-17-2003/nodeinjury.html.
- Paz, J.O., W.D. Batchelor, B.A. Babcock, T.S. Colvin, S.D. Logsdon, T.C. Kasper, and D.L. Karlen. 1999. Model-based Technique to determine variable rate nitrogen for corn. Agricultural Systems 61.p.69-75. Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Pederson, W.L., K. Ames, D. Mueller, and C. Bradley. 2001. Seed Treatements for Soybean, Corn, and Wheat. p. 70-72 *In* Illnois Crop Protection Technology Conference Proceedings. January 2001. University of Illinois, Urbana, IL.
- Pepper, G. 2000. Soybean. p. 30-39. *In* Illinois Agronomy Handbook: 2000. University of Ilinois, Urbana, IL.
- Rabalias, N.N., R.E. Turner, W.J. Wiseman Jr. and Q. Dortch. 1998. Consequences of the 1993 Missisipi River Flood in the Gulf of Mexico. Regulated Rivers Re search and Management.
- Randall, G.W., J.A. Vetsch, and J.R. Huffman. 2003. Corn Production on a Subsur face-Drained Mollisol as Affected by Time of Nitrogen Application and Nitrapyrin. Agronomy Journal. 95:1213-1219.
- Randall, G. and J. Vetsch. Southern Research and Outreach Center Univ. of Minne sota. 2002. Corn Production after Soybean as Affected by Tillage, Hybrid Vigor, and Planting Date. [Online] Available at: http://sroc.coafes.umn.edu/Soils/ 2002%20Research%20Results/Corn%20Production%20hybrid%20vigor.pdf.

### References

- Reeves, D.W., C.W. Wood, and J.T. Touchton. 1993. Timing nitrogen applications for corn in a winter legume conservation tillage system. Agronomy Journal. 85:98-106.
- Ritchie, S.W., J.J. Hanaway, G.O. Benson. 1993. How a corn plant develops. Special report No. 48. Iowa State University of Science and Technology Cooperative Extension Service Ames, Iowa.
- Scharf, P.C., W.J. Wiebold, and J.A. Lory. 2002. Corn Yield Response to Nitrogen Fertilizer Timing and Deficiency Level. Agronomy Journal. 94: 435-441.
- Schroeder, J. B., and S.T. Ratcliffe. 2003. 2003 Variant Western Corn Rootworm On-Farm Survey. [Online] Available at: http://www.ipm.uiuc.edu/wcrsurvey/ index.html.
- Singer, M.J., and D.N. Munns. 1987. Soils: An introduction. MacMillan Publ. Co., New York.
- Soils Project Summary. 2003. 2002 SOILS Project Summary. [Online] Available at: http://www.soilsproject.org/2002\_soils\_project\_summary.htm.
- Spencer, J.L., S.A. Isard, and E. Levine. 1997. Western corn rootworms on the move: Monitoring Beetles in Corn and Soybean.
- University of Illinois, Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Economics. 2002. Estimated Costs of Crop Production in Illinois. [Online] Available at: http:// www.farmdoc.uiuc.edu/manage/enterprise cost/2002 crop budgets.pdf.
- University of Illinois, Farmdoc. Management 2003. NASS corn yields and time trend for STATE TOTAL, Illinois. [Online] Available at: http://www.farmdoc.uiuc.edu/manage/pricing/Picture.asp.
- Varsa, E.C., S.A. Ebelhar, T.D. Wyciskalla, and C.D. Hart. 2003. Using Historically Established Yield Variability For the Improved Prediction of Nitrogen Fertilizer Needs in Corn. *In* R.G. Hoeft Edited, Illinois Fertilizer Conference 2003 Pro ceedings. p.37-44.
- Vyne, T., T. West, and G. Steinhardt. 2002. Use of No-Till in Delayed Planting of Both Corn and Soybean. Chat'n Chew Cafe. [Online] Available at: http:// www.dingcorn.org/news/articles.02/Delayed\_Plant\_Notill-0515.html.
- Wascher, H.L., P.T. Veale, and R.T. Odell. 1962. Will County Soils. Soil Report No. 80. University of Illinois Agricultural Experiment Station. December, 1962.
- Welch, D.L. Mulvaney, M.G. Oldham, L.V. Boone, and J.W. Pendleton. 1971. Corn Yield with Fall, Spring, and Sidedress Nitrogen. Agronomy Journal. Vol. 63, p. 119-123.
- West, T.D., D.R. Griffith, G.C. Steinhardt, E.J. Kladivko, and S.D. Parsons. 1996.
- Ef fect of tillage and rotation on agronomic performance of corn and soybean: Twenty-year study on dark silty clay loam soil. Journal of Production Agriculture. 9:241-248.
- Wolkowski, R.P. 1990. Relationship between wheel-traffic-induced soil compaction, nutrient availability, and crop growth: A review. Journal of Production Agriculture. 3: 460-469.
- Wolkowski, R.P., and L.G. Bundy. 1990. Interaction of compaction, fertility, and hybrid on corn yields. *In* Proceedings of the 1990 fertilizer, ag lime, & pest manage ment conference.